

The paradox of community seed systems

A case of Lumezi and Chasefu districts

Clement Raphael Banda

Independent project • 30 credits Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, SLU Faculty of Natural Resources and Agricultural Sciences Department of Urban and Rural Development Rural Development and Natural Resource Management - Master's Programme Uppsala 2022

The Paradox of Community Seed Systems. A case of Lumezi and Chasefu districts

Clement Raphael Banda

Supervisor:	Nathan Clay, Stockholm University, Stockholm Resilience Centre		
Examiner:	Alin Kadfak, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Department of Urban and Rural Development		
Assistant examiner:	Harry Fischer, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Department of Urban and Rural Development		
Credits:	30 credits		
Level:	Second cycle		
Course title:	Master thesis in Rural Development		
Course code:	EX0889		
Programme/education:	Rural Development and Natural Resource Management-Master's Programme		
Course coordinating dept:	Department of Urban and Rural Development		
Place of publication:	Uppsala		
Year of publication:	2022		
Copyright:	The featured map in figure 1 is used with permission from the copyright owner, Peter Samende.		
Online publication:	https://stud.epsilon.slu.se		
Keywords:	Community-based seed systems, Seed, Seed sovereignty, Zambia		

Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences

Faculty of Natural Resources and Agricultural Sciences Department of Urban and Rural Development Division of Rural Development

Abstract

Availability of quality seeds is very key to production in agrarian societies such as Zambia. However, the focus on cereals like maize, a staple, has negatively affected the availability of quality seed for other crops like legumes which are equally important. This has been one of the reasons the community seed initiatives have been necessitated. This study has been designed to investigate the effectiveness of community seed systems in rural communities. The focus was Seed Grower Associations in Lumezi and Chasefu districts in Eastern Zambia in the Community Based Seed project supported by a non-governmental organisation. In this study, I set out to find out whose knowledge is included in the community seed initiatives. I also asked how rural areas experience community seed initiatives. This work draws upon political ecology and food sovereignty as an approach and concept respectively to answer the research questions. This is a qualitative study therefore I conducted 20 interviews, a focus group discussion, and observations to collect empirical data. The findings reveal that local knowledge has been incorporated into the seed systems but that which complies with regulations for seed growing. Contrary to the narrative that community seed banks are avenues to improving access to seed in rural communities, evidence in this study shows that locals have been excluded from accessing seed. Finally, this study shows that seed growers boast of their livelihoods improving as a result of their participation in the seed initiatives. However, they have been dependent on the NGO to procure seed for multiplication for years. Overall, this scholarly work contributes to research on seed systems on how political ecology and food sovereignty can be deployed to understand community seed banks.

Keywords: Community-based seed systems, Seed, Seed sovereignty, Zambia

Table of contents

Abbı	eviations	6
1.	Introduction	7
1.1	Research problem	7
1.2	The aim of the study	9
1.3	Literature Review	10
1.4	Thesis Outline	11
2.	Background	12
2.1	Context of Lumezi and Chasefu districts	12
2.2	Project context	13
2.3	Agriculture policy in Zambia	14
2.4	Zambia and seed systems	15
	2.4.1 Definition and relationships of players in the seed project	16
3.	Theoretical and Conceptual framework	17
3.1	Political Ecology	17
3.2	Food sovereignty	18
4.	Methodology	20
4.1	Qualitative data collection	20
4.2	Study site selection and participant choice	22
4.3	Researchers' reflexivity	23
4.4	Ethical concerns	24
4.5	Data analysis	25
5.	Empirical findings and discussion	26
5.1	The management of community seed systems	26
	5.1.1 Seed growing and knowledge systems	26
	5.1.2 The intersection of formal and informal seed systems	
	5.1.3 Farmers' rights on landraces	
5.2	Mechanism of receiving seed and relevance of varieties received	31
	5.2.1 Source of seed	31
	5.2.2 Farmers' role in seed variety selection and seed relevance	33
	5.2.2. Delevenes of another reactived	22
	5.2.3 Relevance of seed received	

5.3	Farmers' perspectives on seed production	36
5.4	Accessibility of seed to local communities	37
5.5	Impact of seed growing on seed growers' livelihoods	40
	5.5.1 Seed growing a lucrative business	40
	5.5.2 Improved household food security, housing, and meeting school	
	requirements	40
	5.5.3 Income from legume seed, capital in farming	41
	5.5.4 Trickle-down of capacity building to non-seed growers	42
6.	Conclusion	44
6.1	Key findings	44
6.2	Analytical reflection of the theoretical framework	45
6.3	Implications for policy and practice	46
Refer	ences	48
Popu	lar science summary	53
Ackn	owledgements	54
7.	Appendix: A list of interview participants	55

Abbreviations

CSB	Community Seed Bank
DUS	Distinct, Uniform, and Stable
FGD	Focus Group Discussion
FISP	Farmer Input Support Programme
FRA	Food Reserve Agency
IMF	International Monetary Fund
NGO	Non-Governmental Organisation
SCCI	Seed Control and Certification Institute
SGA	Seed Growers Association
PVS	Participatory Variety Selection
ZARI	Zambia Agriculture Research Institute

1. Introduction

Seeds are essential for human life and have existed side by side with human society for generations and generations (Mayet, 2015). Seeds are at the foundation for crops in the food systems as well as crops used by people for other purposes (ibid). Communities have therefore preserved and kept these valuable 'items' to propagate their agricultural livelihoods.

Access to quality seeds is critical to attaining development goals (Kansiime et al., 2021; FAO, 2018). This is because seeds are essential to increasing productivity in farming, especially among small-scale farmers (FAO, 2018). This can in turn lead to livelihoods being improved (ibid).

1.1 Research problem

The agriculture sector in Sub-Saharan African countries is the biggest employer (Dercon & Gollin, 2014). In Zambia, which is the focus of this thesis, about 50% of the overall workforce is employed in the sector (Mulenga et al., 2021; GRZ, 2011). Nevertheless, the agriculture sector in Zambia faces hurdles to significantly contribute to the Gross Domestic Product (GDP) (Mulenga et al., 2021). One of the challenges that agriculture faces is the lack of inputs (seeds) by smallholder farmers (GRZ, 2011). The availability of seed is very key to production in agrarian societies the world over.

Several efforts have been made by successive governments in Zambia to diversify the economy by prioritizing agriculture among other sectors since most of the population is in rural areas (55%) (GRZ, 2017; World Bank, 2020). However, it must be noted that the focus on agriculture interventions by the government has always centred around maize, almost to the detriment of other crops (Chapota et al., 2015). Scholars regard maize as a 'political crop' as it is considered critical to the food security of the nation (Fischer et al., 2022; Scott, 1995). Therefore, it has the potential to swing the political pendulum either way (ibid). Scott (1995:12) argues that "maize had become the very language of discourse between the people and their leaders".

The market for maize production has always been assured except for the phase of the International Monetary Fund (IMF)/World Bank imposed market reforms in the 1990s when market access by farmers was a challenge (Zulu et al., 2015;

Simateele, 2006). Besides, the government-supported, Farmer Input Support Programme (FISP) and the Food Reserve Agency (FRA) account for almost half of the agricultural sector's budgetary allocation (Chapota et al., 2015). FISP has mainly been focusing on maize seeds and fertilizer (ibid). FRA buys the maize produced by the farmers. On this premise, seed companies in Zambia are mostly involved in the production of hybrid maize seed taking advantage of the business opportunities maize provides (Nakaponda, 2012). Therefore, hybrid maize seed production led to farmers becoming dependent on buying maize seed every farming season.¹

It is worth noting that after the adoption of economic liberalization policies in Zambia in the early 1990s, Zamseed a parastatal which used to distribute seed to rural communities was privatized (Chapota et al., 2015). This meant a withdrawal of seed services from areas that were thought not to have meaningful seed business. This necessitated the government to enact a new law, the *Plant and Seed varieties Act of 1995*, to facilitate the entry of new players in the seed sectors such as private seed companies and farmers since the government in the past was the only player.² However, the focus of the private seed companies has centred on maize and other profitable crops which created shortages in quality seeds for other crops such as legumes (Contextual Network, 2016: Nakaponda, 2012). It is on this account that the government and Non-governmental Organisations (NGOs) started promoting community-based seed systems in rural farming communities (McGuire & Sperling, 2016; Nakaponda, 2012).

The need for nutritional security is another aspect that invoked calls for diversification from maize, 'the political crop'. This is explained by the national agriculture policy for the period 2004-2015 which sought to address "high malnutrition and stunting which stood at 20% and 54% respectively" (GRZ, 2011:8). This was because while the government has always fostered that the nation was self-sufficient in the staple(maize), not much effort was placed on producing food crops that complemented maize such as groundnuts and vegetables (ibid). It is against this background that the multiplication of legumes seeds is viewed as an opportunity to make seeds available to rural communities by some development actors. This is essential to improving dietary diversity and other nutrition indicators in the long run.

Development Fund (2011:4) refers to community seed systems or community seed banks (CSBs) as being a "collection of seeds that are maintained and administered by the communities themselves". It is worth noting that CSBs may play and serve different purposes depending on who is championing them. Almekinders (2001) makes mention of those which conserve local varieties while others improved varieties or both. In Zambia, most CSBs focus on improved

¹ An informal conversation with a Zambian development practitioner on 15/05/2022

 $^{^2}$ An interview with a Senior Officer at SCCI on 1/02/2022

varieties which they earmark for the market (Development Fund, 2011; Almekinders, 2001).

The problem I therefore address is whether and how community seed initiatives are equitably addressing the problem of low accessibility of quality legume seeds in Zambia. In doing so, the process of these initiatives (who is controlling them) and their outcomes, that is who is benefitting from them or not will be interrogated. Groundnuts and beans are the legume crops under consideration in this study.

David (2004) contends that while community-based seed initiatives have the potential to improve access to seed by rural communities they face challenges in implementation in most of Eastern and Southern Africa. Kansiime et al. (2021) point out that it is not easy for these initiatives to access seed for multiplication as well as to have their fields inspected. Scholarly work by Westengen et al. (2019) highlights seed policy as being a factor in the successful implementation of community seed initiatives.

1.2 The aim of the study

My study seeks to assess the effectiveness of community-based seed systems in rural communities. The focus are Seed Grower Associations (SGAs) in Lumezi and Chasefu districts in the Eastern Province of Zambia, supported by an international NGO, Agriculture Development Initiatives (ADI)³.

To guide my study the following two main research questions and sub-questions will be considered:

- i. Whose knowledge is included in community seed initiatives?
 - How is local knowledge included in the seed initiative?
 - How do expert and local knowledge intersect?
 - What synergies are there between the formal and informal seed systems?
- ii. How do rural areas experience community seed initiatives?
 - How accessible is the seed multiplied to smallholder farmers in villages or communities where the seed grower associations are?
 - What are the perceptions of farmers on the community seedbanks?
 - How have the seed growers' livelihoods changed?

This scholarly work seeks to contribute to improving the understanding of the concept of food sovereignty when deployed to examine community seed systems. This paper further contributes to the comprehension of how different actors in the seed sector either promote or constrain community seed banks.

³ The name of the NGO has been anonymized in this study to protect its identity.

1.3 Literature Review

Globally community seed banks have been in existence for over 30 years (Vernooy et al., 2015). It must be noted that they take different forms as well as functionalities (ibid). There are some countries with a lot of seedbanks while others still have a few (Vernooy et al., 2015).

The factors that have shaped the establishment of community seed banks are many and varied. It is worth noting that the emergence of community seed banks is largely attributed to the work of NGOs in various countries (Vernooy et al., 2015). At the core of NGOs promoting seed initiatives have been the conservation of indigenous seed varieties from disappearing hence losing important genetic plant materials (ibid).

Catastrophic events like floods, droughts, and famine have also been drivers of the setting up of seed banks (Vernooy et al., 2014). For instance, organisations that pioneered seed bank initiatives in Africa, Ethiopia, and Zimbabwe did so in response to drought situations in those countries (Mujaju et al., 2003; Feyissa, 2000). The aim was to restore the seed that was lost due to the disasters.

Proponents of community seed initiatives contend that they are intended to make local farming communities more seed secure (Development Fund, 2011). Further, it is argued that they are also supposed to add to the use of local diverse genetic materials (ibid).

Community-based seed initiatives have been considered as having potentialities to address seed accessibility in agrarian communities (Kansiime et al., 2021). This is supported by studies that show that seedbanks could improve farmers' access to seed nearby as opposed to travelling long distances to buy seed (Reisman, 2017). Further, the study shows challenges in the availability of seed as well as the unreliability of government input supplies prompt the implementation of seed bank projects (ibid).

Research conducted in India and Ghana shows that climate change is considered the driver of community-based seed initiatives as farmers risk losing seeds due to poor rainfall and exhausting available seed to avoid hunger (Reisman, 2017; Nyantakyi-Frimpong, 2019). It is argued that farmers can access seed in difficult times from seedbanks (Nyantakyi-Frimpong, 2019). Therefore, village seedbanks and traditional seed systems through conserving agrobiodiversity play a crucial role in building the resilience of farmers (Reisman, 2017). For instance, many farmers in Mali, Niger, and Burkina Faso participated in the seed value chain as a way of diversifying their agriculture and income sources due to the vulnerability of their farming enterprises (Jones, 2017). However, it is interesting to note that poor rainfall experienced by farmers leads to poor seed recoveries as farmers have poor yields (ibid).

Some scholars argue that there seems to be a disconnect between the intents and the operationalization of seedbanks from what the farmers are experiencing (Reisman, 2017; Nyantakyi-Frimpong, 2019). The seed bank's purpose was to improve accessibility to crops that are not prioritized by seed companies or underutilized (Reisman,2017). The studies, however, show that organisations promoting seed bank initiatives were more concerned with pleasing their funders hence they promoted crops not prioritized by the local farmers despite them doing need assessments before the project started (Nyantakyi-Frimpong, 2019). Added to this, is that local knowledge was not considered in the project in Ghana and as such farmers decided to default on seed loan repayment to show their displeasure (ibid).

There is not much in-depth research on community seed banks and mostly they are skewed to showing successes recorded by those who implement or sponsor them (Reisman,2017). Another researcher, also posits that there is a gap in studies on the role and impact of community seed initiatives (Vernooy,2013). Nyantakyi-Frimpong (2019) in his study on seed systems in Ghana argued that social relations were critical of how seedbanks operated and not just climate vulnerability. I, however, argue that political and economic structures are essential in our understanding of community seed banks and how they interface with different actors.

1.4 Thesis Outline

The structure of this thesis is as follows: The second chapter details the background by giving the contexts of the project sites, the project being researched, the agriculture policies in Zambia, and seed systems in Zambia. In the third chapter, the theoretical framework adopted in this study is explained. The fourth chapter is the research methodology, where I explain my data collection, how the study sites and participants were selected, researchers' reflexivity, ethical concerns, and data analysis. The fifth chapter details the empirical findings and discussion in tandem with the study research questions and the adopted theoretical and conceptual framework. Finally, in the sixth chapter, the conclusion of the thesis, I highlight the key findings, provide an analytical reflection of the theoretical and conceptual framework and I also bring out the policy implications of the study.

2. Background

This chapter gives details on the context of the districts where the fieldwork was conducted and the seed project. It further highlights the history of the agriculture policy and the seed systems in Zambia. In this chapter, I also define and explain the relationships of some players in the community-based seed project.

2.1 Context of Lumezi and Chasefu districts

Zambia is politically divided into ten provinces which are further divided into districts. The districts where my research was conducted are Lumezi and Chasefu in Eastern Province. These districts used to be part of Lundazi district before they were created as new districts in 2018 by the government. Chasefu has an estimated population of 99,829 people while Lumezi has 109, 219 people (GRZ, 2020).

Lumezi and Chasefu districts fall within livelihood zone 17, *Eastern Plateau*, *maize*, *groundnut*, *tobacco*, *and trade* in Zambia (FEWSNET, 2014). Zambia has 21 livelihood zones (ibid). Holzmann et al. (2008: xii) define a livelihood zone as a "geographical area within which people share broadly the same patterns of access to food and income, and have the same access to markets". In addition, the two districts fall in agro-ecological region II receiving average rainfall "ranging from 800-1,000 mm per rainfall" (FEWSNET:44). In these districts, livelihoods are mostly centred on crop production and livestock rearing. On average the poor have less than one hectare of land while the better off have more than 1.5 ha (ibid).

Chasefu district is surrounded by Lundazi and Lumezi districts in the south, while in the north and west, Chama district (Chasefu Town Council, 2018; GRZ, 2020). It borders Malawi on its east (ibid). On the other hand, Lumezi district shares its boundaries in the south with Chipangali, the north with Lundazi, and in the south-west with Mambwe District (GRZ, 2020). On its, north-west is Mpika while on the eastern side it has an international boundary with Malawi (ibid).



Figure 1: Map of Chasefu and Lumezi Districts. Copy right by Peter Samende

2.2 Project context

There are several community seed initiative projects in Zambia but my focus is on one supported by ADI, which I refer to in this thesis as the Community-based Seed (CBS)project. The project aims to increase the availability and smallholder farmers' access to improved varieties of legumes (ADI, 2015)⁴. Improved varieties are those which are certified. In addition, the project seeks to improve accessibility to agro-ecologically suited planting materials (landraces or local varieties) (ibid). Subsequently, the project would like to see improved production of legumes and producers having diversified income sources.

In this project, farmers are organised in Seed Growers Associations (SGAs) and are called seed growers. The implementing partner to ADI in this project is a local NGO which I refer to as Kukaya Community Organisation (KCO) in this thesis⁵. Therefore, the SGAs are under KCO. The seed growers are supported with inputs(seed) and capacity building (ADI, 2015). The trainings offered to the seed growers are in seed production, conservation agriculture, business skills, and governance skills among others (ibid). The project is promoting open-pollinated

⁴ This information is from the project proposal for the CBS project. It is not included in the reference as a way hiding the identity of the NGO

⁵ The name of the local NGO has been anonymised to protect its identity and that of the study participants

varieties of legumes like beans, cowpeas, and groundnuts (ADI, 2015). In Lumezi and Chasefu groundnuts and beans are promoted by the project because the soils are suitable, "coarse-textured and sandy loam soils" (Context Network, 2016:28). These legumes are considered an important component of the smallholder farming system in Eastern Province where the study sites are located. This is also explained by the region registering the highest production figures of legumes(groundnuts) in Zambia as shown in the Crop Forecast Survey report for the 2020/21 farming season (Ministry of Agriculture, 2021).

The growing of legumes is critical to agriculture in Zambia in a broad context. This is because groundnuts and beans are a source of very much-needed plant proteins which is cheaper compared to that from animals ⁶. The growing of these crops is in tandem with the nutrition-sensitive agriculture programmes being promoted as part of Scaling Up Nutrition in Zambia(ibid). In addition, the cost of production is not as high as that of maize which requires a lot of inputs (ibid). In addition, the fixing of nitrogen in the soil is critical for the enhancement of soil fertility and can increase the yields of maize when incorporated into crop rotation (Mofya-Mukuka & Shipekesa, 2013). Of noteworthy is the fact that legumes were considered as crops for women as they were produced majorly by the womenfolk in comparison to other crops mainly produced for sale (Context Network 2016; Mofya-Mukua & Shipekesa, 2013). This means that interventions to promote legume production in Zambian agriculture are poised to boost the empowerment of women farmers economically (Mofya-Mukuka & Shipekesa, 2013).

2.3 Agriculture policy in Zambia

Agriculture policies in Zambia since independence have undergone some changes based on political leadership (Zulu et al., 2015). However, the focus on maize has been constant regardless of who wielded political power. As alluded to earlier this is because maize is the staple food and critical for national food security. The First Republic (1964-1971) saw small-scale farmers focusing their farming on traditional cereals such as millet and sorghum, as well as groundnuts (ibid). During this period policies from the colonial administration still shaped agriculture in the country (Zulu et al, 2015). The Second Republic (1972-1991) on the other hand, was characterized by the introduction of subsidies for agriculture, especially for maize (ibid). However, with the advent of the new government in November 1991, the economy was liberalized (Scott, 1995). Agricultural subsidies were therefore done away with as a way of meeting the conditionalities of IMF and World Banksponsored Structural Adjustment Programmes (SAPs) (Zulu et al., 2015).

⁶ An interview with an official from ADI on 21/02/2022

In 2002, during the Levy Patrick Mwanawasa regime, the government reintroduced the Fertilizer Support Program, a subsidy on maize inputs to increase access to inputs by smallholder farmers (Zulu et al., 2015). Evidence shows that a big component of the agricultural budget has been going towards subsidizing the production of maize in Zambia (Chapota et al., 2015).

The current National Agricultural policy (2012-2030) emphasizes diversifying the agriculture sector in line with Zambia's vision 2030 (GRZ, 2011). One of the strategies is to increase the availability of inputs to farmers (ibid). The promotion of a community-based seed system could be one way of achieving this.

2.4 Zambia and seed systems

The broad categories of seed systems are formal and informal in Zambia. The formal is one where the seed is certified by the government while the informal is the farmer-saved system (Context Network, 2016; Nakaponda, 2012). The community seed banks mostly fall in the formal category, however, if they also promote landraces then they are in between the formal and informal seed systems. This is because landraces or local varieties are not certified.

The legislation (Chapter 236 of the Plant Variety and Seed Act) defines seed as "part of any of plant... intended for planting". As will be highlighted in detail in chapter 5(empirical findings and discussion) the informal seed system is where local seed varieties are promoted, exchanged, and planted. On the other hand, improved varieties are certified seeds. The process of producing improved seed varieties starts with the smallholder farmers, in this case, being registered as seed growers by the SCCI. They need to identify a registered seed variety for planting. The seed crop has to be inspected by government-sanctioned inspectors at least twice during the farming season. Since the legume seed grown by the seed growers in this study is rainfed, it is harvested around July. When it is harvested, seed inspectors sample 10-15% of the fields for the seed growers and take it to the lab to be examined that it meets the criteria of seed⁷. When it passes through the certification system, SCCI certifies that seed and it can be sold as a seed. If does not pass then it cannot be treated as seed but as grain.

After attaining its independence, the government of Zambia led all aspects of the seed value chain such as breeding, production, marketing, and quality control.⁸ In 1981, the government set up Zamseed, a parastatal, to produce seed for most of the crops save for tobacco and cotton to reach the farmers country-wide (Mbaya et al., 2017). However, with the liberalization of the economy, the parastatal was

⁷ From an interview with an officer at Seed Control and Certification Institute

⁸ This information emerged from an interview with a Senior Officer at the Seed Control and Certification Institute (SCCI) on 1/02/2022

privatized in the 1990s (ibid). The free-market economy necessitated private seed companies to gain entrance into the seed sector (Mbaya et al., 2017).

The formal seed sector is made up of public entities such as Zambia Agriculture and Research Institute (ZARI), Seed Control and Certification Institute (SCCI), the department of agriculture as well as the University of Zambia's School of Agriculture Sciences (Sperling et al., 2013). SCCI is a department in the Ministry of Agriculture mandated to regulate the seed sector in Zambia (Context Network, 2016). ZARI is also a department in the same ministry but is responsible for agriculture research in crop and soil, and plant improvements as well as providing farmers with cost-effective innovations (ibid). Other actors include international agriculture research institutions such as the International Institute of Tropical Agriculture (IITA) and private seed companies (Context Network, 2016). The NGOs also come to fill the void left by other players in the rural areas to increase access to seeds (Nakaponda, 2012).

2.4.1 Definition and relationships of players in the seed project

In this sub-section, I define players in the community seed project and explain their relationships. This is key to understanding community seed systems' functionality.

Breeders in this case refer to those agricultural researchers from the Public agricultural research stations (ZARI) who develop and improve seed varieties. Seed growers are smallholder farmers who are engaged in the production of seed, in our case legumes. During the process of developing varieties, farmers (seed growers or non-seed growers) are engaged in multilocational trials to "try the varieties in different performance environments"⁹.In addition, since legumes seed for multiplication of improved seed is sourced from ZARI, the government breeder and seed growers form a symbiotic relationship.

It must be stated that those who qualify to be recruited into seed growing in the seed project are smallholder farmers. Non-seed growers are farmers who are not engaged in seed multiplication in the seed project. Since these non-seed growers are residents in the project locations, it was intended that they should access quality seed produced by the seed banks. However, the project offers opportunities for every smallholder farmer interested to learn sustainable agricultural practices to participate in its capacity building activities regardless if they are seed growers or not.

⁹ An interview with a scientist/breeder from ZARI during the field work on 22/02/2022.

3. Theoretical and Conceptual framework

This chapter exposes the approach and concept that I employ in analysing the empirical results on the effectiveness of the community-based seed systems in Lumezi and Chasefu districts, Zambia. I first of all focus on Political ecology and then the concept of food sovereignty in relation to this research. Political ecology and food sovereignty are related as they both examine issues of power relations, access, knowledge, and justice which are in tandem with the research questions of this study (Fernandez et al., 2013; Watt & Scales, 2015).

3.1 Political Ecology

Political ecology is an approach premised on the struggle people have over resources and the environment and how this is shaped by power relations (Batterbury, 2018). In this thesis, our consideration is the political ecology of community seed systems.

Fernandez et al. (2013:6) explain that political ecology focuses on understanding relationships "between economics, politics, technology, social tradition and the biological environment by analyzing issues of access, control and power".

Some scholars posit that political ecology examines how producers and their environment are shaped by political and economic factors (Walker, 2005). This is critical in this study as it assists to understand how agricultural policies and seed laws promote or constrain seed bank initiatives amongst smallholder farmers.

Critical in political ecology and relevant to this scholarly work is the concept of access. Ribot and Peluso (2003) define access as the ability to draw upon benefits from resources, people and institutions, etc. The analysis of access is important in understanding who is benefiting from the seed bank and how. Further, how power is embodied and plays out in the different arrays of mechanisms in the community seed systems is of the essence. Of importance also is the mediation of access to resources (Rangan, 1997). In this study for instance, which actors mediate the accessibility of seed to farmers is examined. This in other words looks at those with control to access.

Ribot and Peluso (2003) argue that the access analysis goes beyond the circumference of resource benefit, in this case participating in the seed bank

initiative. Relevant to this study, is what impact the farmers' access to seed cause and how the local community benefit. These are congruent with my research questions.

Another feature of political ecology as stated by Dodd (1998:83) is that it "seeks to link macro-level political economic process with micro-level aspects of human ecology". In this thesis, we are looking at different players such as farmers, the local NGO, who are at the grass-root level, and ADI and government at the national level. This research project attempts to interrogate the interaction among these players concerning the effectiveness of community seed systems.

Political ecology examines how power is deployed or plays out in knowledge systems (Leff, 2015). Power could be used to decolonize the knowledge by embracing indigenous knowledge(ibid). This is borne from the premise that local people also have knowledge that is good and has been tested (Nyantakyi-Frimpong, 2019). Political ecologists also analyse the deconstructing of the epistemes implying that doing away with knowledges which may not be sustainable (Leff, 2015). One of the research questions of this study is whose knowledge is included in the community seed systems. Therefore, the analysis of power in knowledge is key to this work.

3.2 Food sovereignty

The concept of food sovereignty was championed by *La Via Campesina* to counter the concept of food security and industrial agriculture (Bezner Kerr, 2013). Food security focuses on the production and accessibility of food but not the control of it (ibid). Industrial agriculture is one that is characterized by large capitalized farms and the displacement of smallholder farmers (Alteiri & Toledo, 2011). Food sovereignty is therefore defined as the right of local people to shape their food systems (Patel, 2009). It considers aspects such as *"control over markets, land, water, seeds and production methods"* (Bezner Kerr, 2013:869). An important element of food sovereignty is seed sovereignty which is relevant to my research on community seed systems as it involves small-scale farmers producing improved and local varieties of seed. Seed sovereignty is defined as the power local people have over seed systems (Wittman 2009 see Bezner Ker 2013). This is opposed to seed enclosures being perpetuated by seed companies through patenting planting materials (Bezner Kerr, 2013).

In this study, the concept of food sovereignty is helpful in understanding who has control over the choice of seeds. Most NGOs claim that they undertake needs analyses before project commencement to understand the needs of their beneficiaries (Nyantakyi-Frimpong, 2019). In this research, this analytical concept is critical in assessing the role farmers play in the legume seed varieties they settle for.

Most community-based seed projects implemented are market-oriented as promoted by funders (David, 2004). The implications are that the producers are expected to sell most of their produce. The concept of food sovereignty is relevant in understanding if the producers have control over their harvest. In addition, assesses if they do exchange seeds with their kin and neighbours in their communities.

One of the aspects promoted by seed projects is participatory variety seed selection. The views of the farmers are critical to this exercise as they understand the contextual issues and have situated knowledge. This is important to know if the seed being promoted receives acceptance by the farming community and whose voice matters the most (Patel, 2009).

The combination of the conceptual framework of food sovereignty and political ecology permits us to analyse power relations shaping relations among stakeholders involved in the seed system. For example, we may consider reviewing the seed legislations to consider power relations within the seed sector (Peschard & Randeria 2020). Within the farming community or beneficiaries, this analytical framework aids us to analyse how the seed is distributed and if there are inequalities in its access (Bezner Ker, 2013).

Research shows that international organisations have helped to promote seed bank initiatives by providing grants to kick start these projects (Reisman,2017). Initial capital has been provided in form of basic seed to be multiplied and thereafter the seedbanks are to be self-sustaining. To assess how effective community seedbanks in Lumezi and Chasefu have been achieving in being self-sufficient we will find out if they are still dependent on aid to attain seed security (Bezner Ker, 2013). If seed growers are still dependent on the NGO for seed for their operation it diminishes their food sovereignty

4. Methodology

In this chapter, I will explain the research design employed in this study. I will further show how the study site and participants were chosen. The process of how qualitative data was practically collected is also subjected to a discussion in this chapter.

This is a qualitative research and is anchored on social constructivism philosophically. I, therefore, sought to explore the meanings of all participants, and stakeholders in the seed sector (Creswell & Creswell, 2018; Robson & Cartan, 2002).

4.1 Qualitative data collection

My data collection was conducted within a period of six weeks in February and March 2022. This was after I had developed two interview guides, one for the farmers (seed growers and non-seed growers) and the other for key informants (officials). Informants help provide context.

The data collection methods that were used in this study included semistructured interviews, a focus group discussion, and observations. I obtained informed consent from the participants before going ahead with data collection (Creswell & Creswell, 2018). Issues of confidentiality and the right to participate in the study were equally addressed in advance before the commencement of data collection (ibid).

Semi-structured interviews were conducted with 12 smallholder farmers (10 seed growers and two non-seed growers). An interview guide was prepared for this purpose to help the research focus but at the same time flexible to make follow-up questions (Robson & McCartan, 2002). The interviews were done within the farmers' villages in Lumezi and Chasefu districts to understand the local context. However, some participants had to move to a central location to be interviewed. Others were interviewed on phone. The interviews allowed me to understand different perceptions about the process and the outcomes of community seed production initiatives. I sought to find out among other things how seed growers source seed for multiplication and their role in different aspects of the seed bank initiative. How the project impacted seed growers and access to legume seed to non-seed growers was also examined.

I also conducted interviews with key informants who are stakeholders in the seed sector. My fieldwork started with an interview with a senior official at SCCI who gave me an account of the background and the status of the seed sector in Zambia. He later referred me to his subordinate, the Seeds Officer, who works with smallholder farmers engaged in seed growing. Through this interview, I found out about the regulatory aspect of the seed sector and the community seed systems. Later on, during my fieldwork, I had an interview with another Seeds Officer from SCCI but based in Eastern Province. This officer worked directly with the seed growers I was doing my research on. This was meant to get specific issues relating to the said seed growers.

Furthermore, a scientist (legume breeder) from ZARI was interviewed on phone. The role of ZARI in the community seed systems was explained during the semistructured interview.

An Interview was also conducted with an official from ADI to find out the motivations for supporting community seed banks and how the implementation is going. In the same vein, I interviewed the former project manager for the CBS project to get his views on community seed systems. This was from the realization that he had headed the project for almost six years and he was a resource. I was unable to interview his successor as he was unavailable during my fieldwork. An in-depth interview was done with the Project Coordinator of the local NGO, KCO.

In this study, I also interviewed a crops officer from the Ministry of Agriculture who was recommended by one of the informants through the process of snowball sampling to talk about the issues of seed systems (ibid). Most of the interviews were audio-recorded with the permission of the participants and transcribed for analysis (Creswell & Creswell, 2018). I also took notes during the interviews. The reason for recording and transcribing interviews was to ensure a *"more thorough examination of what people say"* (Heritage 1984 see Bryman 2016:479).

In Chasefu district, one focus group discussion (FGD) with the seed growers was conducted. I elected to employ this method of data collection because people feel more relaxed with their peers. In addition, one can stimulate a natural conversation in an FGD. While I had planned to do two separate FGDs, one for men and another for women, I opted to do one for both men and women. This was after consulting the participants if it is culturally allowed for them to be in one discussion group. The seed growers present agreed that they have been having meetings together and that does not hinder women from speaking. While the group had a lot of seed growers, I decided to settle for a group of eight participants (four men and four women) which is within the recommended size of 8-12 people for an FGD (Robson & McCartan, 2002). I also ensured that the group was representative. An FGD discussion schedule was prepared in advance to guide the session. To help with the sessions, I engaged an assistant who acted as a facilitator/moderator and I was taking notes of the proceedings. I did not need an interpreter since I speak and

understand the language, *Nyanja*, spoken by the participants. However, I realized that there were a few participants who would use some words in *Tumbuka* (a local language) that I could not understand. In those instances, my assistant helped to translate for me. The perception of farmers on the seed bank initiative and their experiences were elicited during the focus group discussions. Like interviews, the FGD was recorded with the permission of participants (ibid). Seed growers felt free and motivated to speak because of the presence of their fellow farmers. To make the discussions interactive, I ensured that every participant was given a chance to speak.

To better understand how the seed growers carry out their seed production, I observed some of their fields of groundnut seeds. I also had an opportunity of visiting the main farmer field school which is located at the KCO field centre and one located in the community where seed growers reside. The participants explained to me different treatments and technologies which are tested in the farmer field school and it is a platform for knowledge sharing on best agronomic practices. While I wanted to observe how the seed bank operates by checking its records and storage facilities, I was informed that there was no seed in the shed during my visit. All the seed had been loaned out to the beneficiaries. During these visits, I also took notes from informal conversations I had (Creswell and Creswell, 2018).

4.2 Study site selection and participant choice

Lumezi and Chasefu districts in Eastern Province were chosen as sites in my study due to their agricultural productivity. Another reason for choosing to undertake my research in these locations is that seed production has been taking place for a long time, since 2006. Therefore, I felt that they have a lot of experience to help answer my research questions. At the same time, the SGA has given birth to new producer groups which I also considered part of the research to get a comprehensive view of the aspects under investigation. Further, I have an existing working relationship with the local NGO and smallholder farmers in the two districts. I have worked in the communities when I worked for ADI as Monitoring and Evaluation Officer for more than five years. This was important for the initiation and execution of this research. This background was useful in terms of building trust between the participants and the researcher.

The local NGO, KCO, helped select seed growers who participated in the study with the guidance of the researcher. The participants comprised seed growers of different age groups, both men and women, those who hold leadership positions, and those who do not. My data collection took place at times when the seed growers also had association activities. For, example, the engagement with the seed growers from Chasefu district, coincided with them working on their Farmer Field School. As for those in Lumezi district, there was a governance training taking place for the members of the association. Selections of some of the study participants were through the snowball method. For example, the coordinator of the local NGO referred me to the Crops Officer under the Ministry of Agriculture who was facilitating the governance training for the seed growers. I interviewed him during the break of the training. As for the non-seed growers, they were randomly selected in the localities of the seed growers.

The key informant from ADI was interviewed in Lusaka. The two SCCI staff were interviewed at their headquarters in Chilanga district.

4.3 Researchers' reflexivity

Berger (2015) defines reflexivity as the introspection and acknowledgement by a researcher of their position and how it can affect the study. This introspection will help identify biases and values a researcher has which if not taken care of can jeopardize the research and the quality of the findings. For example, the researcher may hold different political views to the researched hence the need to keep reappraising himself or herself(ibid).

I have worked with some of the participants during my work with ADI as a Monitoring and Evaluation Officer. No doubt this has created certain positionality concerning the issue and the participants I am researching. However, being self-reflective at every point of the research helped ensure that I took on the lens of my new position as a researcher and lay aside biases (Berger, 2015; Creswell & Creswell, 2018). At the same time, my role helped create rapport quickly as the seed growers consider me an "insider" as opposed to if I was very new to them. There were moments when the participants still referred to me as an officer from the NGO and I reminded them of my new role, that of the researcher. My not going with the transport from ADI helped them understand that I am not an agent of the NGO.

It is worth noting that I conducted my fieldwork at a time when the farmers were spending most of their time in their fields as it was farming season. The fact I come from the capital city I may have power over them. However, I told the local NGO which facilitated my work that I was going to work within the schedule of the farmers, when they were not busy working in their fields hence minimizing any disturbance caused by research to the farmers (seed growers and non-seed growers) (Prowse, 2010:213)

During the research, I envisaged a situation where maybe I take the voices of the seed growers based on the narratives I have heard during my work with other colleagues. To overcome this, I took the stance that as a researcher I needed to hear the voices of all stakeholders. Triangulation of data sources was useful in this regard (Prowse, 2010:213).

4.4 Ethical concerns

Since social research deals with human beings, ethics are very important in the process. This is because the research can have some disturbances on the people being studied.

When I was considering the research, I got in touch with ADI and KCO who gave me a go-ahead. This is in line with what Creswell and Creswell (2018) espouse that one needs to engage gatekeepers before venturing into research. In this case, the two organisations are responsible for the research sites where the seed growers operate.

In the same vein, the participants were informed about the purpose of the research (Creswell & Creswell, 2018; Punch, 1994). At the beginning of the interviews and focus group discussion, I made sure that I got informed consent verbally from the participants. This applied to smallholder farmers (seed growers and non-seed growers) as well as key informants. I also assured them of the confidentiality of whatever they told me. Before I recorded an interview, I asked for permission to go ahead and also mentioned that the recording is for my private use and not for the public. The participants were informed that the audio recording was meant to facilitate the transcribing of the interviews to aid my data analysis.

Similar to the issue of confidentiality during data collection is the assurance of anonymity of the study participants in this thesis to avoid them being victimized in any way. The names of all the participants are not captured in the thesis. For the organisations, I have given them pseudo names to make it difficult for readers to identify them.

There were no expectations of payment by participants and local NGO staff. However, some payment was given to the local NGO for fuel which helped facilitate our movements to the field where the farmers were. There was a time when the vehicle we were using got stuck in the mud and the driver had to ask for help from nearby community members. The researcher had to pay the helpers a token of appreciation for the help rendered. In addition, I conducted all of the interviews myself and I only engaged an assistant to facilitate the focus group discussions while I took notes of the ensuing discussions. I paid this assistant a small token of appreciation for helping me.

On the first day of the fieldwork, we were delayed because of the vehicle getting stuck in the mud. We reached the farmer field school late and we apologized for keeping the participants waiting though they were aware of our ordeal. While I had planned a focus group discussion and interviews with the seed growers, I had to just do the latter so as not to take much of their time. Fortunately, the local NGO organized lunch for them so that they do not go hungry after our interaction. For interviews, I decided to take the phone numbers of the potential interviewees and called them later during their free time.

4.5 Data analysis

The process of data analysis started during the data collection in the field. This was done by making sure that during the fieldwork when the participants were being interviewed that I thought about how data was to be teased out from their responses (Robson & McCartan, 2002). This was to ensure that they addressed the research questions. In instances when I felt that there were areas that were not adequately responded to, I got back to the participants for more clarity and also cross-checked with others.

The first step that I took after data collection was to transcribe audio recordings from the interviews and a focus group discussion. Part of transcribing started after fieldwork in the evening but due to limited time, it extended beyond. During the transcription of words in *Tumbuka* which were difficult for me to understand I called one of the farmers to help explain them. The field notes which were typed helped to understand the data from the transcript and its context. Thereafter, I read the transcripts through and through to understand the data collected (Robson & McCartan, 2002).

Based on research questions I developed themes and I went to read all the transcripts and began to colour interesting parts corresponding to my themes. I thereafter placed them under appropriate themes. This further informed my writing of the empirics in this thesis.

5. Empirical findings and discussion

In this chapter, the research questions will be discussed in relation to the data obtained through interviews, a focus group discussion, and related studies. Political ecology and the concept of food sovereignty are used in the analysis of the empirical data.

5.1 The management of community seed systems

In this section, I consider the research question which examines whose knowledge is included in the community seed systems. The focus is the discussion of the knowledge systems in the CSBs and the intersection of the formal and informal seed systems. In addition, the farmers' rights concerning landraces are equally interrogated.

5.1.1 Seed growing and knowledge systems

Community seed production in Chasefu and Lumezi is anchored on different knowledge systems, expert and local, those in compliance with seed regulations. In trying to examine the seed systems and knowledge systems, I explored how local knowledge is included in seed bank initiatives. Another question in this regard sought to find out how expert and local knowledge intersect. It must be noted that the CBS project itself, had a research component with a strategy to bring in different players in the agricultural sector. These included agriculture researchers, agriculture extension officers, and local farmers to share knowledge. This mix of different agriculture actors was able to test different technologies in farmer field schools and used these platforms to share local and expert knowledge. A farmer field school is like a living classroom, a knowledge-sharing platform that allows for both experts and locals to see what works practically. In these platforms, the local farmers were able to take an active participatory role. Research participants disclosed that technologies from both the locals and experts are tried in the farmer field school. Based on the observations, seed growers make decisions on which technologies or practices to adopt. A participant from the local NGO explained that:

Previously we used to do demo[stration] sites but now there are no more demo sites we have transformed them into farmer field schools. When they were demo sites the information flow

was coming from the experts [...] So, now we ... do what we call participatory kind of arrangements where farmers come to observe and share experiences they have observed and how they encounter the challenges they are facing. The information flow is in both ways coming from the experts and the feedback from the farmers. (Informant local NGO, 11/02/2022)

The inclusion of local knowledge in community seed systems resonated with some of the seed growers in the two districts. The participants in the focus group discussion in Chasefu district acknowledged that the knowledge of how to grow groundnuts has been passed on from previous generations. One participant during the session noted that:

In land selection, it was not allowed to grow groundnuts in areas where there were Masuku trees (*Uapaca Kirkiana*) but where there are sandy loamy soils. So, site selection[knowledge] for our ancestors helps us in seed production. (Participant in an FGD, Chasefu district-9/02/2022)

The above quote goes to show that the seed growers have been able include some local knowledge, especially in selecting land to undertake groundnut seed production on. The seed growers report that some of the principles in growing legume grain apply to seed production. This result of local knowledge being incorporated into the seed system differs from research by Nyantakyi-Frimpong (2019) in Ghana where indigenous epistemes were not regarded in the running of a community seed initiative.

Another participant in the FGD also shared how they use ridges to grow the groundnut seed. The use of ridges is one of the conventional methods they used to grow maize and other crops in the past. Ridges as explained by the seed growers allow the groundnut pods to have room to grow. Local sustainable techniques like potholing which have been adopted and promoted by conservation agriculturalists are being used in seed growing. This shows that some technologies promoted by the agriculturalists are not new to the local farmers. While projects like CBS promote sustainable agriculture practices, the inclusion of ridging may send a mixed message to seed growers. Conservation agriculturalists posit that this practice negatively affects the soil in the long run.

There are points of departure in the knowledge systems of the community seed systems. This is evidenced by some seed growers who complained that knowledge from agricultural experts came to sideline the indigenous knowledge. For example, mixed farming is not allowed as a seed crop is supposed to be a pure stand to avoid cross-pollination. Some perceptions by the participants could be that they are yet to understand what makes seed farming unique. One local seed grower explained that is the reason why "… *farmers who join seed growing have to be trained and also have to come to the [farmer] field school to learn some techniques*". This is premised on the understanding that the prior knowledge farmers have is insufficient to undertake seed growing.

While findings show some local knowledge has been integrated into community seed bank initiatives, it is only that which conforms to the rules of how seed should be grown. However, these rules are developed by experts. It is also interesting to note from this study that not every expert technology is allowed in seed production. Intercropping is the case in point of a practice promoted by agriculturalists in conservation agriculture yet it is not permitted in seed growing.

From this research project, I see farmer field schools as being vital to seed growers having control of agricultural technologies used to some extent. However, the limitation is that those technologies are supposed to adhere to the rules and regulations that govern seed production set by the government.

5.1.2 The intersection of formal and informal seed systems

This research sought to find out how the formal and informal seed sectors come together. As indicated by the literature earlier and also confirmed by informants during my fieldwork, Zambia has two broad seed systems: the formal and informal seed systems. The informants from the government emphasized that the formal system is one where the seed is grown as prescribed by the laws of the country. An official from the SCCI explained in detail:

[...] Chapter 236 [of the laws of Zambia] defines what is seed and what should be sold. It must be a seed of verifiable variety. It means the variety was approved and produced according to the laws of the land. It means it was registered by SCCI, tested, and provided in the market in the right way after it has been tested in the laboratory and has passed and has met minimum standards. That's when it can be considered a certified seed. But in the informal everything is done by a single person, a farmer. He produces like crops to eat. So, he is the one who selects what is ...that this one I can plant and he starts giving other people. So, when they are sharing the information at that level it's business at its minimum. Otherwise, that is not really[certified] seed per se. (Informant 1 SCCI, 2/02/2022)

Further investigation with SCCI but this time with another officer shows that the seed regulator is aware of the presence of local varieties and the informal exchange of seed in rural communities.

As for SCCI, the law is very clear and explicit we cannot accept a landrace in the certification system because it is not known. Suffice to say that we do recognize an informal seed sector. We are aware that seed is changing hands outside the certification process. We know that people exchange seeds, sometimes they sell, and sometimes they give them as gifts. Sometimes there is a batter system in our villages. It could be cassava cuttings, it could sweet potato vines, it could be grain, cereals, it could be legumes. So, there is that system, that is at the back of our minds we know it is happening but Zambia in its quest to improve food security and improving productivity hence we have developed a seed system where certification must take place at all levels. (Informant 2 SCCI, 2/02/2022)

The participants from SCCI explained that for seed to be certified, it has to pass the criteria of it being *Distinct, Uniform, and Stable (DUS)*. This is according to the

Zambian Plant Breeder's Rights Act of 2007. However, the landraces fall short of this criterion as they may only meet one or two of the DUS elements. A participant from an NGO which has been part of deliberations on seed policy in Zambia felt that the government can do something to address the situation. He posits that:

[...] as far as landraces may not conform to one of the criteria either distinctiveness, uniformity, or stability, they still need to come up with a way to recognize landraces. (NGO Informant, 20/02/2022)

The criteria set by the government for seed certification or recognition are detrimental to the preservation of agro-biodiversity as well as smallholder farmers benefiting from the local varieties. I agree with the NGO informant's suggestion that alternative seed certification systems can be set up to accommodate the local varieties. However, the lack of consideration of the farmers' varieties in the aforementioned piece of legislation seems to have been influenced by private sector interests. In his commentary on the Plant Breeder's Act in Zambia, Mwila (2016) explains that the seed companies' interests took pre-eminence over coming up with legislation that was going to be all-encompassing by including farmers' rights. A similar study in Malawi also shows how seed policies were influenced by commercialization to the detriment of the local farmers (Westengen et al, 2019).

Both improved and local varieties are promoted by seed growers in this research. Therefore, they fall in between formal and informal seed systems. They are growing improved groundnuts and beans varieties. For a local variety, they are producing *Lundazi* beans.

The informants in the study gave different ways they felt the formal and informal seed systems interact. The presence of the informal is regarded by the government as an opportunity to sensitize the adoption of improved seeds by rural farming communities. Community seed systems are a way to improve access to improved seed as explained by an official from SCCI.

Where they meet, the interaction is that our seed systems, the rural seed systems are aiming at penetrating the informal there so that some form of quality is assured to the buyer of the seed. (Informant 1 SCCI, 2/02/2022)

This position by the informant is borne out of the concern that not many smallholder farmers are adopting improved varieties save for maize in Zambia (Kuteya et al. 2020). Further, the seed regulator in keeping with its mandate views the informal seed sector as not providing sufficient information to farmers on the local varieties useful for planning purposes.

Another area of convergence of the formal and informal seed systems as explained by informants from SCCI and ZARI is that landraces are the base for crop improvement. A scientist from ZARI specified that *"landraces are a source of traits of the economic importance of the [crop]breeding program"*. The scientists find it useful to conserve the local varieties either in-situ or ex-situ as explained by the informant from ZARI.

We are not saying farmers should not literally grow landraces, they should because they serve a certain need in the community. In addition, they are actually keeping or maintaining is a better word not just for themselves but also for institutions like ours. (Informant ZARI, 22/02/2022)

The importance of landraces as explained by the informants, in agriculture research stations, serves to cajole policymakers to give them the prominence they deserve. This should be so because they have traits that are suited to local agro-ecological conditions. My research project shows the intersection of the formal and informal seed systems from the government position is very strong with the agriculture researchers (ZARI). On the other hand, SCCI is focused on enforcing the law concerning the seed sector. There is a need for mandates of the two government departments to be synchronised to better serve the smallholder farmers and enhance the food systems. This is because agriculture researchers require landraces to developing improved varieties.

5.1.3 Farmers' rights on landraces

Farmer rights are framed as important to the development of rural farming communities. In this study, I inquired with participants from the SCCI and ZARI if rural farming communities have a share in the rights of the local varieties which are improved upon by the breeders. Evidence shows that in Zambia anyone is free to have the landraces improved upon if they are in high demand. In addition, they can do so without obtaining consent from the locals where the variety is domiciled. The breeder, therefore, owns the rights to the improved variety according to the breeders' rights as stipulated in the laws. From my analysis, it seems that those with financial resources can easily privatise a community 'resource', in this case, a local seed variety. This shows that seed laws on plant breeding in their current state mainly serve those with money and power which the local people lack.

The informant from ZARI reported that awareness of the issue of farmers' rights is very low among farmers. The lack of sensitization can be attributed to the lack of laws supporting farming communities to claim ownership of 'their' varieties. Therefore, this calls for activism by development actors so that the farmers' rights can be legislated. However, the informant pointed out that:

we recognize the fact that we have given names to some varieties that have been discovered in a certain location in honour of those locations or group of farmers or origin... even in our documentation, we specify the origin of the variety and so forth. We, definitely acknowledge. (Informant, ZARI-22/02/2022)

The 'honour' accorded to farming communities by the research institutions as explained in the quote above by an agriculture researcher from ZARI is not sufficient. The government should come up with comprehensive legislation that will ensure that the local communities benefit from the local varieties. For instance, *Lundazi* beans, a local variety in the research sites, which is preferred for nutritional purposes, if recognized would fetch a better price than currently is the case. This will mean increased incomes for those growing the local variety.

5.2 Mechanism of receiving seed and relevance of varieties received

This section details how decisions on seed sourcing and distribution are made and negotiated. The decisions around the governance of seed in the CBS have been determined by the funding NGO. However, at the local level, the seed growers also have structures for managing their operations.

5.2.1 Source of seed

Community seed banks in Zambia are engaged in the production of legume seeds and other 'orphan crops', source their planting material from public research stations, at ZARI¹⁰. From interactions with the seed growers during the FGD and interviews, it was clear from all of them that ADI has been procuring seed for them since the inception of the project. ADI also offers support to other aspects of the CBS project. One of the key elements of the CBS project design is that seed growers get seed loans from the seed bank and pay back the seed. This was meant to build sustainability but that has not been the case. This is explained by an SGA which has been receiving seed procurement grants for more than 10 years. With this, it is evident that a dependency syndrome has been created therefore placing the seed growers under the control of their donor. This situation is detrimental to seed growers sustaining their work. It calls for development actors to ensure that they have exit strategies and begin to implement them early during the project life.

The lack of agriculture finance for smallholder farmers is attributed to seed growers' continued reliance on support from ADI by some research participants. For example, an informant from ZARI who reported that indeed seed growers do not purchase seed for themselves from the breeders voiced out the following:

[there is] also a gap in financial institutions supporting farmers. There are not many of these institutions. For one, farming is not cheap even I, am struggling to get and make the best out of

¹⁰ An orphan crop is the one that private seed companies are not interested in producing as they are considered not profitable.

my crop. I can imagine the small-scale farmer [seed grower] who doesn't have a source of [income]...They have a myriad of demands, especially during the rain or farming season. (Informant, ZARI, 22/02/2022)

Being registered as a member with the SGA and subsequently with the seed regulator, SCCI, as specified by the participants is critical to one accessing seed for multiplication. Furthermore, another key requirement to accessing seed that was stressed by participants is to be trained in seed production. The former CBS project manager explained that seed has a lot of compliance issues compared to growing commercial crops. For example, the timing of weeding is critical in seed production. One seed grower during the interview session shared his views on the importance of them being trained.

For one to access seed they have to become a member of the SGA. Then you have to be trained on how to grow seed. This is the seed, so one has to be trained since this is different from grain. Intercropping is not allowed. After training the member is given the seed. (Male farmer, Lumezi 10/02/2022)

Much as the project is funded by ADI, the operations of the SGAs are guided by their constitutions and they have elected executive boards in place to provide leadership. This is evidenced by the way seed is distributed among members. Participants reported mechanisms through which the seed growers obtain seed from their seed bank is on a loan basis and they sign agreements. The seed growers pay back the seed that has been multiplied in the ratio of 1:2 after harvest, failure to which they receive a penalty. The payment of money instead of seed and in some cases being expelled from the farmer group are some of the penalties meted out to defaulters. One participant explained that:

[...] if we get 10kg [of legume seed] on a loan basis. We return 20 kg [of legume seed]. That 20 kg is what will be loaned to new members" (a participant in a Focus Group Discussion-9/02/2022).

The seed growers appreciate this loan recovery system of paying back the legume seed as they do not have to pay cash. This seed pass-back system as it is called enables the SGA to recruit more farmers to its membership as its seed soars in its seed bank. The local governance structures of SGAs and the way politics play out are very critical once the seed is sourced for them by the ADI. It emerged during the study that in some SGAs some leaders abuse their authority by loaning themselves more seed than others. A related study in Ghana also shows how the elite captured the operations of community seed banks for their benefit (Nyantakyi-Frimpong, 2019). This derails seedbanks from achieving their set objectives. To address governance challenges, KCO has been organising governance trainings for SGA leadership.

5.2.2 Farmers' role in seed variety selection and seed relevance

The CBS project shows a semblance of traits of seed sovereignty going by the testimonies that seed growers are called months before the next farming season for the variety selection. This selection is participatory as seed growers are asked to choose from the varieties tried at the farmer field school. However, one participant who has been on the project since inception pointed out that it was not so in the beginning. The funding organisation used to purchase seed for seed growers without consulting them on which varieties they wanted. The participant added "but after some time maybe it was in 2013-15 that is when they introduced the research system [component of the project]". It is this research component that has brought to the fore the aspect of Participatory Variety Selection (PVS) which presents seed growers with opportunities to choose their preferred seed variety depending on their performance. The participant explained that because of this new research component, "That is when we started demanding the varieties we wanted".

Much as seed growers are given opportunities to select varieties that seem suitable to them, the participants in Lumezi and Chasefu explained that there are other factors at play. One of these factors is the availability of the said legume variety. The availability of seed is a function of many factors such as how much has been recovered and which varieties. Some of the factors may be outside the control of the seed growers. For example, the supply is determined by the breeders. A seed grower can choose which variety of groundnuts or beans they get sometimes from the seed bank as one participant pointed out.

So, it depends on the type or quality of seed that seed growers pay back to the seed bank. Sometimes what happens is that the seed when it loses vigour after being grown for three seasons then it is phased out, it also determines what seed you receive. When it becomes like that it becomes grain.¹¹(female grower,10/02/2022)

From the foregoing, we can state that the PVS if not matched with the availability of seed it just serves the objectives of the research agenda of the funding organisation. Seed growers should only be allowed to choose those crop varieties that are available. It is also important to define how 'participatory' is the PVS.

5.2.3 Relevance of seed received

The relevance of the seed obtained from the seedbanks by growers in Lumezi and Chasefu is demonstrated by its ability to address certain challenges and meet their needs. The responses to the question of how relevant the seed is, were diverse. Most of the participants revealed that the seeds they received were early maturing

¹¹ Grain in this context is the seed that can now be planted by ordinary farmers, non-seed growers.

varieties which are ideal for their situation of reduced rain season. In a focus group discussion, a participant reported that: "I chose Wamusanga [a certain groundnut variety] because it is early maturing even if rains are not sufficient it does well". From conversations with the farmers engaged in seed production in the two districts, it was brought to my attention that the rains consistently started falling in January 2022. The reduction in the duration of rainy seasons in the two districts is due to climate change (GRZ, 2020). The relevance of seed to growers due to climate change was expressed by a key informant from the ADI. During the interview, the ADI official posited that when designing and supporting the interventions, the suitability of crops/varieties for particular agroecological regions was considered.

Participants in the study in Chasefu expressed that a groundnut variety was chosen for them by the local NGO. This was because of the delay in the rain. One of the seed growers who also doubles as part of the leadership of an SGA narrated that "they chose for us from there [local NGO field offices]". The participant was however quick to mention that the variety received was early maturing hence ideal to their situation at that time. This shows that the local NGO was able to choose seed growers' varieties that met their needs. The KCO Coordinator said that "Wamusanga [the variety they received] is better because it only requires about 75 days of rainfall". This demonstrates that the funding organisation and the local NGO do take into consideration the seed growers' needs and the ecological/climate factors when selecting seeds.

It was interesting to also note that some participants complained about the choice of the varieties they received and did not find them relevant. A participant in the interview revealed that there was a certain variety of groundnuts, *MGV4*, which seed growers did not like because it had a disease called *Rosette*.

Further, some participants received a local variety, *Lundazi beans*, to multiply since it is liked by most local people for nutrition purposes. This view was also shared by an informant from the local NGO, KCO:

It is the preference of consumers, not only in Lundazi [Lumezi and Chasefu] but around the country. The red beans commonly known as *Lundazi* has more flavour and is needed in most nutritional arrangements. So, we promote that for the nutrition needs of the households and it is suited to [the] local environment for production. It is resistant to ailments, and pest attack incidences. (Informant local NGO, 11/02/2022)

However, another participant had a different view on this bean variety when he received it.

Lundazi[beans] was not relevant because when you have more rain it will just grow without producing grains. When there is less rainfall it is ok but it very difficult to control it[...] The grading is an issue for example, at the market customers, will demand red beans but Lundazi has got different colours. (Male farmer, 9/02/2022)

The different viewpoints of the participants could be attributed to differences in conditions such as soil in their various localities. It is also important to note that there are differences in opinions with regard to relevance among farmers because of pests and diseases. This all means that the supporting institutions, not just ADI and local NGO, but also government should step up and help farmers manage these pests and diseases and other challenges faced in their farming. This is because seed support is not going to solve all of the problems for farmers. Therefore, capacity building in seed growers is needed to deal with different issues they face in their livelihood activity, pests, and diseases included. Additionally, alternatives that also meet all needs of climate resistance, pests, and disease resistance, as well as nutritional value, should be considered by agricultural research institutions.

5.2.4 Low quantities of seed for seed growers

The quantities of legume seed distributed and received by the seed growers play an important role in the success of seed growing. The participants expressed concern about the quantities of seed they received from the seed grower association to multiply. A woman seed grower voiced out that:

seed is not enough. We need to get at least 80 kg so that the yield is higher. For MGV5[a groundnut variety] we got 45 kg. (Female seed grower, 1/03/2022)

The seed growers receive as low as 5 kg of basic seed for them to multiply. The participants were concerned that this affected the tonnage of legume seed to market. The agro-dealers demand much seed but the seed growers are unable to supply the required quantities. Another participant added his dissatisfaction during the interview, *"we produce low quantities of seed. Maybe now that our members will be increasing maybe we will increase the tonnage"*. The implication of new members in the SGA is that they will add to the seed being repaid to the seed bank.

ADI as the supporting organisation also raised concern over the insufficient foundational seed of preferred varieties as being one of the challenges of community seed systems. The key informant from the NGO pointed out the public agriculture research institution lacks the capacity to deliver sufficient seed:

We tell them we want so much tonnes [of seed], we want five tonnes, they say they can only release 200 kg. Usually, they are not able to meet the demand. (NGO informant, 21/02/2022)

The scientist from ZARI when asked why there are low quantities of legume foundation seed produced, he explained that there has been a lack of huge investment. He said that producing groundnuts seed by research stations and seed companies is more expensive than maize.

If you plant one seed of maize it gives you 200 seeds. If you plant one seed of groundnut it gives you 11 seeds. So, the seed multiplication rate is 20. We are talking about...actually 20

times less. So now if the seed multiplication rate is less, then it is expensive to produce legume seed. So, we need more investments in producing legume seed because we are planting and getting less from that. (Informant ZARI,22/02/2022)

Further, the scientist pointed out that the low multiplication rate of legumes does not favour private investment as they choose to go for maize where they make huge profits. This is because legumes are mostly open-pollinated varieties and can be grown for more than one season without losing vigour. Private seed companies prefer producing hybrid varieties which farmers have to buy every farming season.

So as the result you have a perennial inadequacy in terms of legume seed. The private sector is restricted because profit is not made at early generation seed. Profit is only made at certified seed but the initial investment which [is] basic seed they are reluctant to because they are not getting the profit. (Informant ZARI, 22/02/2022)

A similar study by the African Union (2021) also shows that public agricultural research institutions in Africa do not receive adequate funding. The same research also reveals that the huge investments by most seed companies go to maize breeding (ibid). Another explanation is that being in a liberal economy the government may want to provide a 'conducive' environment for private seed companies to thrive. Peschard and Randeria (2020) argue that private seed companies may become more powerful and begin to control the seed sector in a country and later on, the way the food system is shaped.

5.3 Farmers' perspectives on seed production

The market orientation of the CBS project made seed production attractive to most farmers in the communities where it is being implemented. During the focus group discussion and interviews the participants were asked to share their reasons for starting seed growing. The participants seemingly elated by the decision could not hide their reasons for their choice. The seed growers in this research attributed the lucrative prices of seed as being key to them diversifying their farming to legume seed production. This, the participants explained is essential in meeting their household needs.

We learn that certified seeds have better yields while the other[recycled] seeds have lower yields [...] For commercial crops[groundnuts] much as the harvest may be good it is difficult for us to have enough income to meet household needs. It was not for the local crop to accomplish that. But for seed under good management, the price is very good and lucrative. (FGD in Chasefu District, 9/02/2022)

The price instability of other cash crops was another driving factor for the participants to venture into seed production. One participant expressed the following in an FGD:

The reason I joined seed growing is that the prices were stable compared to the ones by briefcase buyers [commercial crops], yes. When they [buyers] decide on the price of seed the price does not fluctuate (change) but for commercial crops, you will find today is K13 and tomorrow it changes K7. So, I decided to become a seed grower to grow groundnuts. (FGD, 9/02/2022)

Inspiration from peers was another factor that motivated farmers to join the seed community seed bank initiative. They were able to observe improvement in the livelihoods of their friends as a result of participating in the seed production of legumes as the venture was profitable. This compelled them to join the Seed growers' association.

During the fieldwork, I also sought to get the perspective non-seed growers had on seed production. This was to get a general feel of the local people where the seed banks are domiciled. The study participants reveal that most of the farmers in their villages have an interest in undertaking legume seed production. This is premised on the higher prices of legume seed compared to local varieties, for example, in the case of groundnuts. Further, the promotion of agriculture as a business has equally raised the interest of the smallholder farmers in seed production.

It is interesting to note that while locals are interested in joining the community seed initiative, they face certain hurdles. For example, as expressed by one participant in the focus group discussion in Chasefu, "*many want to join but we are limited by the quantities of seed*". From interviews with key informants from the SCCI and document review, I realise that seed production has a lot of requirements for the growers. As one of the seed growers interviewed pointed out, "*Someone can have interest growing seed but the conditions of seed growing may hinder them from joining*. This calls for a lot of sensitization by those promoting community seed initiatives so that other farmers can also partake of the benefits of seed growing.

5.4 Accessibility of seed to local communities

The access to seed produced in the CBS project in the two districts has been shaped by the market-oriented approach of the project. As a measure of the impact of the project on the local communities, I asked the participants how accessible the seed produced was to the locals, the non-seed growers. The idea of making seed available locally, turned out in practice to be more inward-focused (within the SGA). The former project manager of the CBS project explained that:

[...the] project was looking at three things. The first one is to produce high-quality seed and the second one is to make that seed accessible to other farmers, especially those who are members of the association. The other one is actually to sell it because the key thing is that the project also had an element of entrepreneurship meaning that if they have excess. The key thing

in producing that seed was to sell but as they were selling, they were also supposed to leave stock for production for the following year. (Former CBS Project Manager, 31/01/2022)

When I was in the field it came to my attention that the founding seed grower association birthed other seed clubs in the two districts. This was a confirmation that the number of seed growers has been on the rise as indicated by the former project manager in the interview conducted in Lusaka. The number of seed growers stood at 399 as of May 2022 compared to 84 in 2015^{12.} With the increase in SGA membership, it means more seed is being paid back in loan recoveries and subsequently made available to other growers for multiplication.

Some study participants from government institutions felt that sometimes NGOs show ambitions to make improved varieties accessible to the local communities in their project proposals to secure funding from donors yet they do not live up to it. This failure could be attributed to challenges in implementing these initiatives by NGOs. For example, the CBS project in its proposal planned to increase local farmers' access to seed. By not doing so, it shows some departure from its proposal. Related to this, community seed system studies conducted in India and Ghana reflect on a mismatch between what development organisations promise in their proposals to what they do in practice (Reisman, 2017; Nyantakyi-Frimpong, 2019). Development organisations should always endeavour to adhere to what they promise in their proposals.

The majority of the seed growers in this study expressed that the seed produced is not made accessible to fellow community members who are not members of the SGA. The major reason advanced is that they are in business. As one of the participants expressed himself: "we don't share with our communities since they are not seed growers. It is not profitable to sell it to the local community". The stance of these seed growers is driven by the funding organisation which in its mandate promotes enterprise solutions. However, it is important to also encourage the SGAs to market their produce to their communities. My discussion with the Crops officer, who has calculated gross margins with the seed growers, revealed to me that profit can still be made from selling seed to the locals.

Further, the seed growers choose not to share their seed with non-members because they need to keep it for the next farming season after repaying the loan. This is because they have targets to meet in SGA in terms of quantities for the market. The seed growers mostly sell all of their produce to seed companies and agro-dealers in Lusaka, the capital city. The key informants explained that agrodealers sell part of the seed to the government for FISP. However, it is difficult to verify that this seed from FISP comes back to communities where it was grown since most farmers in these communities grow recycled groundnut seeds. Suffice

¹² The year 2015 was the beginning of another phase of this seed initiative promoted by ADI hence I use it as baseline in analysing the increase in number of seed growers.

to say that the scenario in CBS is contrary to a study conducted by David (2004) in Uganda which shows that a seed bank initiative was selling almost all of its seeds locally. I argue that the CBS project in its operation takes away the control of the seed growers over the seed they produce. Furthermore, in these farming communities sharing the seeds is a way of life but this seed production enterprise comes to distort that. This is so since the seed growers are not allowed to share with anyone. This shows that the project takes away their right to share the planting material. This means that the seed growers do not have seed sovereignty.

However, there are other ways in which seed is being made available to local communities. Participants during interviews and FGD stated that some of the seed growers are sub-contracting others outside their association to produce seed for them. The challenge with this is that the sub-contracted farmers are not being monitored by the authorities to ensure compliance with the set standards. The project coordinator for KCO explained that:

We would have registered with SCCI the number of hectares. Some of the lead farmers will sub-contract others to do for them. They get it from the surplus they remained with after paying the loan to the seed bank. There is no assurance that they [sub-contracted farmers] grew it as seed. (Informant local NGO, 11/02/2022)

The seed growers echoed the views of the KCO coordinator. They spoke of some of their fellow seed growers giving their family members to produce seed for them following the requirements for seed growing. The participants during the fieldwork admitted that it was not allowed. Some participants expressed their displeasure that some "members share part of their seed with other community members who are not registered seed growers. We want to identify those who are giving out seed to others". These threats reflect some exclusionary elements these seed growers show to others. Furthermore, the seed growers stressed that whoever grows seed should be trained and registered. I argue that the sub-contracted should be viewed as potential seed growers but who are lacking training and monitoring. This is an opportunity for SGAs to grow their membership by formalizing those being sub-contracted by registering them.

Another way seed is made available illegally to the community is when seed growers are involved in side-selling seed for various reasons. One of these is for them to attend to urgent household pressures. The participants reported that the delay in the marketing of seed in 2021 forced some of the members to side-sell it. It must be noted that seed growers according to the governance of the SGA are supposed to bulk and market the seed together and not as individuals. This is meant to give them an edge in terms of market negotiation and also seed quantities. However, illegalities by some seed producers may suggest some resistance similar to the study by Nyantakyi-Frimpong (2019) where seed growers resorted to defaulting on seed loans as a form of rebellion. This was done to display their displeasure that the seed bank was not meeting their expectations (ibid)

5.5 Impact of seed growing on seed growers' livelihoods

In Lumezi and Chasefu like in most rural areas in Zambia agriculture is the main source of livelihood. The farmers in these two districts mainly grow Maize, groundnuts, beans, soya beans, and sunflower. Non-food crops grown include tobacco.

5.5.1 Seed growing a lucrative business

Most smallholder farmers' reason for diversifying their farming systems to legume seed production was mainly linked to its premium prices. This was compared to other cash crops like maize, the staple. The seed growers reported during interviews that in 2021 they managed to sell the groundnut variety called *Wamusanga* at K25/kg compared to the local variety sold as grain which was going at K13/kg.

I saw the commercial crops we were growing were not fetching good prices. At least for seed, the price is very good. The market is not a problem. They usually find us, buyers, as long as we have grown it accordingly as prescribed on seed production. (Female seed grower, 1/03/2022)

The increase in income from legume seed sales has been a driving force for some seed growers increasing the hectarage of their farms for seed production. One participant who has been producing for more than ten years explained that:

From the time I started seed production I started on a small scale but now I am able to cultivate more hectares. When we started, I produced on 1.5 Ha but now I produce on 10 ha piece of land. (Male seed grower, 10/02/2022)

It is noteworthy that this participant was a model seed grower as he seems to be grounded in seed production. His success can also be attributed to his wanting to lead by example since he chairs one of the founding SGAs in the project.

5.5.2 Improved household food security, housing, and meeting school requirements

The increased income from seed production has had an impact on seed growers meeting their household needs. Food security is one aspect that the study participants report has been enhanced. A female participant shared that "*I used to have issues with food insecurity but there is an improvement in [household] food*

security". The participants explained that they do not just have to depend on maize for their households to have sufficient food. The proceeds from legume seed have led to diversified income which I think is critical to building farmers' resilience. A related study in Tanzania also shows that seed growers had higher incomes from seed sales than cereal crops i.e maize (Kansiime et al., 2021).

The seed-growing enterprise has positively impacted some participants who have since improved their housing structures. In most villages in Zambia, the majority of people live in mud houses which are grass thatched. Two women participants in separate interviews shared how they have managed to build panbricked houses and roofed them with iron sheets. A male seed grower in Lumezi also gave an account of how proceeds from seed growing have improved his life and that of his household.

Through the same business, I was able to build the house with all the necessary furniture. I have a solar panel and my family has a T.V. So those are the achievements. (Male farmer, 10/02/2022)

Most of the research participants also expressed how the income from sales of groundnut and beans seed has assisted with school requirements for their children. Some stated that before venturing into seed enterprise they had struggles with meeting the school needs of their children. A participant visibly passionate about seed production explained that:

I failed to take my first-born child to school but, in the year, I harvested seed (beans), I managed to pay for my child at the college. I paid for three terms as I told them that money is usually a problem for me and I wanted to pay at once. It was K1800 (US\$106) per term. I paid ... at Chipata teacher's college. As we are talking my child completed studies last year and just waiting to be recruited. (Male seed grower, 9/02/2022)

During the engagements with the seed growers, they expressed their joy that proceeds from their seed enterprises have helped meet school requisites from primary to tertiary education levels. These findings show that seed production is an important pathway for meeting the basic needs of the poor in rural communities.

5.5.3 Income from legume seed, capital in farming

Seed production for most growers in Chasefu and Lumezi has provided a kick start to other livelihood activities. My study found out that the smallholder farmers engaged in community seed production have had increased access to inputs like fertilizer for their maize and other crops. This is because they now have incomes to purchase the farming input. The participants interviewed said that the number of bags of fertilizer received from the government-funded FISP was not sufficient. One of the participants narrated that "*I am not on FISP, so I buy my fertilizer*." This shows that the productivity of other crops being grown by the seed growers is being sponsored by proceeds from seed. Other participants expressed that seed multiplication is helping them diversify. A seed grower from Chasefu said that "the money from seed [production] has helped me to diversify into gardening, growing of tomatoes. Since seed gives me good income".

Further, the participants also explained how income from seed is also used to meet labour costs for other crop fields. For others, it has helped them mechanise by procuring rippers and tractors. A woman seed grower shared that she "also bought a hand tractor from part of the income from the sale of seed". This goes to show that the asset base of the project participants has been impacted positively. Some seed growers were also able to purchase livestock such as cattle and goats. One seed participant reported that she "… also managed to buy a cow when I harvested 11 x 50 kg [bags of groundnuts]. It has two calves". In addition, other seed growers testified that they managed to procure ox-carts. Seed growing has given farmers access to increased possibilities in livelihood activities.

5.5.4 Trickle-down of capacity building to non-seed growers

From the research, I learned that the seed grower associations have been able to share information on sustainable agricultural practices and other aspects with farmers in the community. This is despite them not being seed growers. Sharing of knowledge is critical as other effects of unsustainable farming are borne by the community at large. Most seed growers who participated in this study reported that their meetings and trainings are open to everyone.

We share so that they know what we do in the group. So, when we have a meeting are we open for non-members to come and learn. As a club, we were seven but because we were open others came to join us. [...] we share the information. We have shared knowledge of conservation farming and people have known it. ... So, we share so that they can also start growing beans so that they can make profits and take care of their children. (Male seed grower, 9/02/2022)

The seed growers have been sensitizing other farmers (non-seed growers) on issues of climate change in their meetings as well as in the farmer field schools. One participant narrated what they have been doing:

[...] we share with non-members in the community about changing our farming based on climate change. We encourage them to grow [improved] groundnut seed. In the past, people used to grow local maize which is late maturing and can take about 5 months. We encourage them to shift to early maturing varieties of maize which take about 3 months. We also share knowledge on treating farming as a business and calculating net profit. (Male seed grower, 10/02/2022)

The participants also disclosed that they promoted the use of improved varieties to the communities so "that they should use certified seed for better yield. Our seeds are improved varieties which mature early".

Opportunities presented by SGAs to non-seed growers in their communities for knowledge sharing are useful for improving agricultural practices amongst farmers. and not just confined to those who are fortunate to be conscripted in seed growing.

6. Conclusion

In this chapter, I focus on the key findings in relation to the research questions of my study. I also consider the analytical reflection of my theoretical and conceptual framework. Finally, the policy implications of the study are explored.

6.1 Key findings

The research findings in this paper give insights into the effectiveness of community-based seed systems in rural communities in, Lumezi and Chasefu districts, Zambia.

Concerning my first research question, on whose knowledge is included in the community seed systems, this research project demonstrates that both local and expert knowledge are included. However, only the knowledge systems that are in tandem with seed regulations are allowed in seed production in community seed systems as long as they agree with the seed regulations. For instance, practices promoted by agriculturalists like intercropping are not allowed in seed production. Conversely, mixed cropping which is a part of indigenous knowledge is also not allowed since legumes grown for seed are not supposed to be exposed to possibilities of cross-pollination.

My findings showed that there are synergies between the formal and the informal seed systems. The respondents from the government departments report that local varieties are materials for crop improvement by agriculture research stations. On the other hand, the seed regulating agency regards the presence of informal seed systems as an opportunity to make sensitise the farmers to use improved seeds.

The study shows that seed growers have some traits of seed sovereignty going by their selection of legume seed varieties of their choice in the farmer field schools. However, the availability of seed varieties in the seed bank dictates what they obtain. Respondents reported obtaining seed varieties that they did not want since their preferred varieties were in short supply.

Another key finding was that while seed bank initiatives are designed to help bridge a gap in the rural farmers' accessibility to seed for their production it was not so in this project. However, rather than achieve that objective, seed initiatives in Lumezi and Chasefu have excluded the locals by not allowing the sharing of seed and, marketing the seed outside the two districts. This has eroded the power of the seed growers over the seed they produce. Nevertheless, there are other unorthodox ways seeds are being made available to non-seed growers such as side-selling and sub-contracting other farmers to produce seed. The rules governing the seed growers that they should not share or sell the seed to the communities is exclusionary and takes away the identity of the people of seed sharing among themselves

Participants had a positive outlook on seed production which has been reported to be due to better prices of legume seed compared to other crops. However, the participants highlighted the lack of sufficient seed as the drawback to the recruitment of many interested farmers in the SGA. This challenge is linked to public breeders' incapacity to produce enough seed to meet demand from seed growers. This is exacerbated by a lack of interest in producing open pollinated varieties by private seed companies but hybrid seeds which assure them of more profits.

My research findings also revealed that seed banks have the potential to address rural poverty going by the evidence of improved livelihoods of the seed producers. Respondents report increased income as a result of seed sales and subsequent diversification of income sources. In addition, the seed growers also boast of improved food security and also asset base.

It is also important to note that while the seed banks show potential to improve the livelihoods of the seed growers they face some challenges as shown by findings in this study. The SGAs have been depending on grants for seed procurement from the supporting NGO. They have not been able to source seed for themselves. This puts their sustainability into question.

6.2 Analytical reflection of the theoretical framework

The theoretical framework adopted in my research provides sufficient grounds for the analysis of the data.

Firstly, the political ecology approach permits us to understand how the community seed systems are controlled. The research shows how laws and policies in Zambia promote and constrain community seed banks. I note that for farmers to be considered seed growers they have to adhere to seeds laws and regulations. Using the lens of political ecology, it can be argued that the seed laws give identity to what falls in the formal and informal seed systems. In the case of the seed growers in Chasefu and Lumezi, they grow the improved legume seed varieties that are in the formal seed system. However, since they also produce the local seed varieties, they also fall in the informal seed system.

Secondly, political ecology also helped address how access to seed is negotiated by seed growers in the community seed banks. Further, the approach assisted in comprehending how access to legume seed was hindered in local communities where SGAs are domiciled. This points out that local communities' accessibility to seeds is not just the function of proximity to seed banks and relationships with seed growers but factors like control. In this study, I argue that the NGO supporting the seed project has a strong influence on the accessibility of seeds due to the power it wields.

The concept of seed sovereignty, helps us understand the control that seed growers have in the different aspects of the legume seed value chain. It is noted that there are some aspects where seed sovereignty is evidenced by the seed growers such as the participatory variety seed selection. However, the analysis using seed sovereignty shows that it is not sufficient for the seed growers in the project to just select their preferred seed varieties but should go beyond that. While seed growers' participation in variety selection is a step in the right direction towards them having a choice in what they produce, it will be critical for them to source and procure their seed. This will give them control over the seed they produce as seed growers. However, the control of individual seed growers over the seed they produce and market is undermined by the rules and regulations of the seed grower associations they belong to.

My further reflection on the concept of seed sovereignty is that it also helps to comprehend how SGA governance affects the seed growers and how they respond to it. I note that the seed growers are supposed to sell in bulk together all the legume seeds produced and no one is allowed to side-sell or share with anyone in the communities in Chasefu and Lumezi. These rules take away the seed sovereignty of the growers. This could be an explanation for why some of them have been going against them, not openly though, in silent rebellion (Nyantakyi-Frimpong,2019).

6.3 Implications for policy and practice

This research demonstrates that inequalities can be perpetuated if laws sideline the rights of rural communities over their seed varieties. There is a need for the government through SCCI to spearhead laws and regulations that do not stifle the informal seed sector but nurture it. In particular, the government should develop an alternative certification system for landraces so that farmers can be allowed to sell them as seeds and make an income.

The low quantities of seed from the public breeders on legumes negatively affect seedbanks in terms of increasing the tonnage of the crop. There should be a deliberate policy by the government to increase funding to agriculture research stations as this is important to increasing the food security of the nation.

To ensure independence from reliance on NGO support, the design of the seed bank initiatives should include a funding mechanism that seed growers can draw on when they need to procure seed. This fund can also be used to meet other operating costs of the SGA. This is key to the sustainability of community seed systems.

I also recommend the seedbanks if they also want to meet market objectives of profit to allocate quotas to their harvest. This implies that they should have certain percentages of their produce earmarked for the local farming community while still serving other markets elsewhere. This would help deal with the exclusion of the locals in the community seed systems

References

Almekinders, C. (2001). Management of Crop Genetic Diversity at Community Level, Deutsche Gesellschaft für Technische Zusammenarbeit (GTZ)

Altieri, M.A. & Toledo, V.M. (2011). The agroecological revolution in Latin America: rescuing nature, ensuring food sovereignty and empowering peasants. *Journal of peasant studies*, 38(3), 587-612.

- Batterbury, S.(2018). Political ecology.In: Castree, N., Hulme, M., Proctor, J.D (eds), Companion to Environmental Studies. New York: Routledge.439-442
- Berger, R. (2015) Now I see it, now I don't: researcher's position and reflexivity in qualitative research. *Qualitative Research*. ;15(2):219-234. doi:10.1177/1468794112468475
- Bezner Kerr, R. (2013). Seed struggles and food sovereignty in northern Malawi, *Journal* of *Peasant Studies*, 40:5, 867-897, DOI: 10.1080/03066150.2013.848428

Bryman, A. (2016). Social Research Methods.5th Edition. Oxford: Oxford University

- Chapoto, A., Zulu-Mbata O., Hoffman, B.D, Kabaghe, C., Sitko, N., Kuteya, A. & B Zulu, B. (2015). The Politics of Maize in Zambia: Who holds the Keys to Change the Status Quo? Lusaka: IAPRI
- Chapter 236 of the Laws of Zambia. The Plant Varieties and Seeds Act.Lusaka: Government of the Republic of Zambia.
- Chasefu Town Council. (2018). Know Chasefu "Manyani Chasefu".Facebook.25 September 2018.
- Contextual Network (2016). Zambia Early Generation Seed Study: Country Report. Washington: USAID Bureau of Food Security
- CSO (2015). Living Conditions Monitoring Survey Report. Lusaka.CSO
- Creswell, J.W. & Creswell, D.J. (2018). 5th edition. Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches. Sage publications,
- David, S. (2004). Farmer seed enterprises: a sustainable approach to seed delivery? *Agriculture and Human Values*, 21(4), 387–397.
- Development Fund (2011). Banking for the future: Savings, Security and Seeds.A short study of seed banks in Bangladesh, Costa Rica, Ethiopia, Honduras, India, Nepal, Thailand, Zambia and Zimbabwe.Oslo: Development Fund

- Dercon, S. & Golin, D.(2014). Agriculture in Africa Development: Theories and Strategies. *Annual Review of Resource Economics* 6:1, 471-492
- Dodds, D. J. (1998). Lobster in the Rain Forest: The Political Ecology of Miskito Wage Labor and Agricultural Deforestation", *Journal of Political Ecology* 5(1), 83-108. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.2458/v5i1.21398</u>
- FAO (2018). Transforming Food and Agriculture to Achieve the SDGs-20 interconnected actions to guide decision-makers. Rome: FAO
- Fernandez, M., Mendez, V.E. & Bacon, C. (2013).Seasonal hunger in coffee communities: Integrated analysis of livelihoods, agroecology, and food sovereignty with smallholders of Mexico and Nicaragua. In *Conference paper*. *Food Sovereignty: A Critical Dialogue International Conference*.
- Feyissa, R. (2000) Community seed banks and seed exchange in Ethiopia: A farmer-led approach. In Participatory Approaches to the Conservation and Use of Plant Genetic Resources; Friis-Hansen, E., Sthapit, B., Eds.; International Plant Genetic Resources Institute: Rome; 142–148.
- Fischer, K., Jakobsen, J. and Westengen, O.T. (2022). The political ecology of crops: From seed to state and capital. *Geoforum*, *130*, 92-95.

GRZ (2020) Joint Integrated Development Plan: Chasefu-Lundazi-Lumezi 2020-2030.

- GRZ (2017). 7th National Development Plan 2017-2021.Lusaka. Ministry of National Development Planning
- GRZ (2011). National Agricultural Policy 2012-2030. Lusaka. Ministry of Agriculture and Cooperatives
- Holzmann, P., Boudreau, T., Holt, J., Lawrence., & O'Donnell, M. (2008). The Household Economy Approach: A guide for programme planners and policy makers. London: Save the Children
- Jones, K. (2017). Social institutions mediating seed access in West African seed systems. FACETS 2: 998–1014. Doi:10.1139/ facets-2017-0019
- Kansiime, M.K., Bundi, M., Nicodemus, J., Ochieng, J., Marandu, D., Njau, S.S., Kessy,
 R.F., Williams, F., Karanja, D., Tambo, J.A. and Romney, D. (2021). Assessing sustainability factors of farmer seed production: a case of the Good Seed
 Initiative project in Tanzania. *Agriculture & Food Security*, 10(1), 1-10.
- Kuteya, A., Mukuka, J., Simutowe, E., & Kabaghe, C. (2020). Sowing Seeds of Success: A Regional Perspective on Development of Seed Industry in COMESA Region. Working Paper no.156.IAPRI: Lusaka
- Leff, E., 2015. Political ecology: a Latin American perspective. Desenvolvimento e meio ambiente, 35(35), 29-64.

Mayet, M. (2015). Seed Sovereignty in Africa: challenges and opportunities.

- Mbaya, E., Miti, F., Mwale, W., & Mugoya, M. (2017). The Zambia Brief 2017-African Seed Access Index. https://tasai.org/wpcontent/themes/tasai2016/img/tasai_brief_2017rev2019_zambia_final_lr.pdf [2022-03-31]
- McGuire, S. & Sperling, L. (2016). Seed systems smallholder farmers use. Food Security, 8(1), 179-195.
- Ministry of Agriculture (2013). The Crop Forecasting Survey Report for 2019/2020 Agricultural Season. Lusaka: Ministry of Agriculture
- Mofya-Mukuka, R. & Shipekesa, A.(2013).Value Chain Analysis of the Groundnuts sector in the Eastern Province of Zambia. Working Paper No.78.Lusaka.IAPRI. http://www.iapri.org
- Mujaju, C., Zinhanga, F.& Rusike, E. (2003).Community seedbanks for semi-arid agriculture in Zimbabwe. In Conservation and Sustainable Use of Agricultural Biodiversity: A Sourcebook; Centro Internacional de la Papa–Users' Perspectives With Agricultural Research and Development (CIPUPWARD): Laguna, 294–301.
- Mulenga, B., Kabisa, M.& Chapoto, A. (2021). Zambia Agriculture Report 2021.Lusaka: IAPRI
- Mwila, G. (2016). 17 Commentary on the Zambian Plant Breeder's Rights Act.In.Michael Halewood(eds)Farmers' Crop Varieties and Farmers' Rights:Challenges in Taxonomy and Law. New York: Routledge. p.319.
- Nakaponda, B. (2012). ISSD briefing note Zambia seed sector assessment. ISSD Africa. https://www.wur.nl/web/file?uuid=2366c652-55b8-4ec1-8806-65c9aa8aac48&owner=1a616bd7-d3c1-493f-9533-d5d61aa53e4a [2021-10-28]
- Nyantakyi-Frimpong, H. (2019) "Visualizing Politics: A Feminist Political Ecology and Participatory GIS Approach to Understanding Smallholder Farming, Climate Change Vulnerability, and Seed Bank Failures in Northern Ghana." Geoforum, vol. 105, 2019, pp. 109–121. Doi: 10.1016/j.geoforum.2019.05.014.
- Patel, R. (2009). What does food sovereignty look like? Journal of Peasant Studies, 36, 663–673
- Peet, R., Robbins. & Watts, M. (2011). Global Nature. In: Peet Richard, Robins Paul & Watts, Michael (eds) Global Political Ecology. London & New York :Routledge .pp1-48

- Peschard, K. & Randeria, S. (2020). 'Keeping seeds in our hands': the rise of seed activism, The Journal of Peasant Studies, 47:4, 613-647, DOI: 10.1080/03066150.2020.1753705
- Punch, M. (1994). Politics and Ethics in Qualitative Research.In: Norman Denzin & Yvonna Lincon (eds) Handbook of Qualitative Research. London: SAGE Publications
- Prowse, M. (2010). Integrating reflexivity into livelihoods research. Progress in Development Studies, 10(3), 211-231.
- Rangan, H. (1997). "Property vs. Control: The State and Forest Management in the Indian Himalaya." Development and Change 1, 71–94.
- Reisman, E. (2017). "Troubling Tradition, Community, and Self-Reliance: Reframing Expectations for Village Seed Banks." World Development 98, 160–68. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2017.04.024.
- Ribot, J.C. & Peluso, N.L. (2003). A theory of access. Rural Sociology, 68(2), 153-181.
- Robson, C.& McCartan, K. (2002). Real world research: A resource for social scientists and practitioner-researchers. Wiley-Blackwell.
- Scott, G. (1995). Agricultural Transformation in Zambia: Past, experience and future prospects. Workshop on Agricultural Transformation in Africa. September 26-29,1995. Abidjan, Ivory Coast. https://pdf.usaid.gov/pdf_docs/PNABZ993.pdf [2022-05-10]
- Simatele, M. C.(2006). Food production in Zambia: The impact of selected structural adjustment policies. AERC Paper 159.https://www.africaportal.org/publications/food-production-in-zambia-the-impact-of-selected-structural-adjustment-policies/
- Sperling, L., Mcguire, S., Walsh, S. & Heinrich, G.(2013). Seed System Security Assessment-Eastern Zambia.USAID/USOFDA
- Taylor-Powell, E. & Steele, S. (1996).GE3658-5 Program Development and Evaluation, Collection Evaluation Data: Direct Observation. Madison: Cooperative Extension Publications
- Vernooy, R., Sthapit, B., Otieno, G., Shrestha, P. & A. Gupta, A. (2017). "The Roles of Community Seed Banks in Climate Change Adaptation." Development in Practice 27 (3): 316–327.
- Vernooy, R., Shrestha, P. & Shapit, B.(2015). Community Seed Banks, Origin, Evolution and Prospects. Earthscan and Bioversity International.
- Vernooy, R., Sthapit, B., Galluzzi, G. & Shrestha, P. (2014). The multiple functions and services of community seedbanks. Resources, 3(4).636-656.
- Vernooy, R. (2013). In the hands of many: A review of community gene/seed banks around the world. In Community Seed Banks in Nepal: Past, Present, Future; Proceedings of the National Workshop, Pokhara, Nepal, 14–15 June 2012;

Shrestha, P., Vernooy, R., Chaudhary, P., Eds.; Local Initiatives for Biodiversity, Research and Development: Pokhara, Nepal; Bioversity International: 3-15.

- Walker, P.A. (2005). Political ecology: where is the ecology? Progress in human geography, 29(1), 73-82.
- Watts, N. & Scales, I.R. (2015). Seeds, Agricultural Systems and Socio-natures: Towards an Actor-Network Theory Informed Political Ecology of Agriculture. Geography Compass, 9(5), pp.225-236.
- Westengen OT, Haug R, Guthiga, P.& Macharia, E .(2019). Governing Seeds in East Africa in the Face of Climate Change: Assessing Political and Social Outcomes. Front. Sustain. Food Syst. 3:53. doi:10.3389/fsufs.2019.00053
- World Bank (2020) Rural Population (% of total population)-Zambia. https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SP.RUR.TOTL.ZS?locations=ZM. [2022-05-10]
- Zulu,B.M.,Sitko,N.J.,& Namonje-Kapembwa, T.(2015). 51 years of Zambian Agriculture.In: Chapoto, Antony & Sitko, Nicholas (eds) Agriculture in Zambia, Past, Present, and Future. Lusaka: IAPRI

Popular science summary

Seeds are very important to human society as they provide a foundation for the food people consume. They are also useful in the growing of other crops and plants needed for different purposes. Most of them are small in size but carry great potential.

In many countries where most people depend on agriculture for a living availability of good seeds is a challenge. For example, in Zambia, most small-scale farmers face difficulties in accessing quality seeds for crops other than maize and other crops produced by seed companies. This situation has compelled NGOs to set up farmer organisations to grow seeds for crops that are not favoured by private seed companies. These farmer groups are supposed to work independently and make their own decisions on the affairs of their organisations.

I got interested to understand how these farmer organisations are working and if they are being effective. I, therefore, decided to carry out research on seed growers in two districts in the Eastern Province of Zambia, Lumezi, and Chasefu. To do this I interacted with farmers, NGOs, and government officials with provided me with useful data.

What I discovered from this study is that the knowledge used in seed farming comes mostly from agriculturalists with little from the local people. This is because seed growing has got a lot of rules which seed producers have to follow otherwise they will not be allowed to continue by the government. I also found out that farmers have opportunities to choose the seed of their choice but the challenge is the lack of sufficient seeds. One of the problems farmers have is not being able to buy seeds for themselves as they look up to the NGO. Furthermore, the local people cannot access seeds produced by farmers because their market is outside the villages and beyond the districts.

In sum, these farmer organisations have the potential to improve the lives of the people in rural areas. Therefore, NGOs when developing proposals must ensure that the seed producers should be able to stand on their two feet. The seed growers should also not forget their kith and kin now that the light of seed growing has set on them.

Acknowledgements

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my supervisor Nathan Clay, for his support from the birthing of the research idea, implementation, and writing. He helped instill confidence at different stages of my project. I am also thankful to Harry Fischer, the course coordinator for the support rendered during the Master thesis in Rural Development course.

To my peers in the Masters in Rural Development and Natural Resource Management Programme, your support was amazing. I would like to especially thank Therese, Linnea, Sofia, Adrien, and Gaba for reviewing my text and for support throughout the thesis.

My Master's programme will not have been possible without the support of the Swedish People through the Swedish Institute Scholarship for Global Professionals which was awarded to me. To this, I will be forever indebted. Tack så mycket!

To my wife, Naonga and my family thank you for your unwavering support through and through. Also, for understanding my absence during the time of my studies in Sweden. Uncle Gabriel, thank you for supporting me and reviewing my thesis.

I also would like to express my profound gratitude to the participants in my study who took the time to participate in this study. I also want to acknowledge the efforts of the people who facilitated my fieldwork. Without their assistance, it was not going to be easy to do my work.

7. Appendix: A list of interview participants

Position	Organisation	Amount of	In-	Gender
		time taken	person/Phone	
Acting	SCCI-HQ	42 minutes	In-person	Male
Director				
General				
Seeds Officer	SCCI-HQ	49 minutes	In-person	Female
Seeds Officer	SCCI-Eastern	32 minutes	On phone	Male
	Province			
Scientist/Groun	ZARI-Msekera	55 minutes	On Phone	Male
dnuts breeder	Research			
	station			
Crops Officer	Ministry of	30 minutes	In-person	Male
	Agriculture			
Country	NGO	39 minutes	In-person	Male
Director				
Former Project	NGO	1 hr 20	In-person	Male
manager		minutes		
Project	Local NGO	1 hour	In-person	Male
Coordinator				
SGA	SGA	1 hr 15	In-person	Male
Chairman/Seed		minutes		
grower				
Seed grower	SGA	40 minutes	In-person	Male
Seed grower	SGA	40 minutes	In-person	Female
Seed grower	SGA	1 hr 10	In-person	Male
		minutes		
Seed grower	SGA	48 minutes	In-person	Male
Seed grower	SGA	1 hr 9	In-person	Male
		minutes		
Seed grower	SGA	30 minutes	In-person	Male

Seed grower	SGA	32 minutes	In-person	Female
Seed grower	SGA	39 minutes	On phone	Female
Seed grower	SGA	1 hr 20	In-person	Female
		minutes		
Non-seed		20 minutes	On phone	Male
grower				
Non-seed		11 minutes	On phone	Female
grower				

Publishing and archiving

Approved students' theses at SLU are published electronically. As a student, you have the copyright to your own work and need to approve the electronic publishing. If you check the box for **YES**, the full text (pdf file) and metadata will be visible and searchable online. If you check the box for **NO**, only the metadata and the abstract will be visible and searchable online. Nevertheless, when the document is uploaded it will still be archived as a digital file. If you are more than one author, the checked box will be applied to all authors. Read about SLU's publishing agreement here:

• <u>https://www.slu.se/en/subweb/library/publish-and-analyse/register-and-publish/agreement-for-publishing/</u>.

 \boxtimes YES, I/we hereby give permission to publish the present thesis in accordance with the SLU agreement regarding the transfer of the right to publish a work.

 \Box NO, I/we do not give permission to publish the present work. The work will still be archived and its metadata and abstract will be visible and searchable.